University of Mississippi

eGrove

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

1-1-2022

Clean. Freaks.

Christopher Jackson Morris

Follow this and additional works at: https://egrove.olemiss.edu/etd

Recommended Citation

Morris, Christopher Jackson, "Clean. Freaks." (2022). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 2260. https://egrove.olemiss.edu/etd/2260

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at eGrove. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of eGrove. For more information, please contact egrove@olemiss.edu.

CLEAN. FREAKS.

A Thesis presented in partial fulfillment of requirements for the degree of Master of Fine Arts in the Department of English The University of Mississippi

by

CHRISTOPHER JACKSON MORRIS

May 2022

Copyright Christopher Jackson Morris 2022 ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

An excerpt from an experimental literary crime novel interrogating adolescent identity, internalized anti-queerness, mental illness, and white moderatism.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Abundant thanks to Tommy Franklin, my thesis advisor, for his attention and dedication to my writing throughout my three years as an M.F.A. student. Immeasurable thanks also to Kiese Laymon, my second reader and a constant source of inspiration, encouragement, intellectual and personal generosity, and difficult but intensely necessary questions. Thanks to Dr. Leigh Anne Duck, my third committee member. Thanks to Dr. Daniel Stout and Dr. Ari Friedlander, two of the literature faculty whose classes made the most marked impacts on my thinking about writing and about this story in particular. Thanks to the full-time and visiting creative writing fiction faculty—Melissa Ginsburg, Chris Offutt, Matt Bondurant, Maurice Carlos Ruffin, and Raven Leilani—and to the critical and creative writing graduate students who have constituted my community for these last three years. Finally, infinite thanks to my family back home—and especially my parents for supporting one of their kids going down one of the least culturally supported career paths out there.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
CLEAN. FREAKS.: A NOVEL	
VITA	

CLEAN. FREAKS.

A NOVEL

All of us were very much responsible for what very much actually happened in what was initially and unfunnily called The Hypothetical Disappearance of Black Oliver Twist, but by the way we sent her marching across the football field less than two weeks after the fact, all bedazzled in green and gold with the floodlights rebounding off the sweat down her face, you'd have thought the cheering, drum-thumping community of New Watertown, Connecticut had collectively saved Aliyah Davis. That night—which was, to be precise, ten days removed from the attempt that had been made on her life—her white sneakers crunched over the artificial turf. She didn't stray from the straight line she was making for the stage at the center of the field, but she turned her head towards the bleachers and raised her unbroken arm in an all-encompassing wave and smiled without showing her teeth when the crowd roared over the drums and the trumpets sputtering out our high school's anthem. Aliyah reached the stage and limped up the three metal steps with her hand on the banister and then slid that hand liquidly into Principal Mathers's. She waved again to the people crowding the bleachers. A swift summer breeze rearranged her braids. She sat in a stiff metal folding chair to the left of Principal Mathers and the podium. The crowd continued to clap and cheer and "we love you, Ally!" Then she turned to you, Kali, my twin sister, my exact mirror image, sitting in a second metal chair beside hers, and, as we all later learned, said, no longer smiling, "My parents are gonna wait to file until you turn eighteen. They want you tried as an adult."

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the pull many of us would have felt towards selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat, a pillar of our school community, and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here."

Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New

Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of

my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here."

Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!" "Turn your phone *off*," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American

workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—" Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here."

Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here."

Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion

that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion

that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here." Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

Again with the noisemakers. Again with the screaming, with "Ally, we love you!" Again, your eyes met mine. Again, Aliyah smiled. She adjusted the flexible stem of the microphone and said, "I want you all to know that I do not support the lawsuit."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

Aliyah looked out at the noise. She saw Riley yelling at this girl. She saw me sitting there and tugging down on the drawstrings of my hoodie once, twice, three times, an older compulsion that had only recently resurfaced but that she'd have remembered from when we were in middle school.

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

Riley stretched over me, her stomach smooshing against the side of my face, and snatched the girl's phone out of her hands. All the people around us started saying stuff, which

drew your attention—as well as Mathers and Aliyah's—to us. Mathers took the mic and told everyone to quiet down immediately, at which point Aliyah slipped free of him, stumbled a few steps back, cupped her hand around her mouth, and shouted, "Charlie, I know you can hear this! And I want you to know that it's all your fault!"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

"Good evening, New Watertown!" Principal Mathers said, stepping up to the podium. The crowd cheered loader and twirled noisemakers, and he had to repeat the phrase "as you all know" three times before it was quiet enough for him to proceed: "As you all know, New Watertown High is always proud when, at the end of every school year, we have the privilege of honoring our graduating seniors before they go on to serve in the military, join the American workforce, or before they leave home to further their studies and pursue intellectual betterment through higher education."

Amidst the crowd and seated next to me and two rows back from the front of the bleachers, Riley snorted and forced her teeth through a bite of burrito. She wasn't hungover, but

she'd worn sunglasses, a groutfit, and her hair in a greasy bun and paired it all with Taco Bell with the express intent of suggesting that she was.

"And while the schoolyear is not yet over," Mathers said, "we're already looking ahead to congratulating our current class of soon-to-be graduates."

Aliyah leaned in close to you and said something I couldn't make out from the bleachers, something we ultimately learned was: "Two minutes. And we're gone."

"But that class will not include one of our town's very best and brightest." Mathers looked over his shoulder at Aliyah, the floodlights catching in his glasses and turning them the color and consistency of TV static. "As most of you know, Aliyah Davis and her family moved to Greenwich two summers ago. But Ally never stopped being a part of our family. And after a long and traumatic few days, we've been given the chance to heal. To unify around an indefatigable young woman whose inclination towards forgiveness has trumped the desire many of us would have had for selfishness and bitterness."

"Charlene," Riley said at me, but I was watching the stage and scrubbing my hands up and down my jeggings. I was watching Aliyah watching you.

"In the name," Mathers said, "of integrity, hope, and healing, I want to welcome back a former Bobcat; a pillar of our school community; and an honorary graduate-to-be of New Watertown High School—"

Aliyah made to stand; you gazed out into the crowd and made immediate and direct eye contact with me.

"Ally 'the Shark' Davis!"

Noisemakers rattled up the rows of bleachers behind us, the sound brittle. Aliyah took that one step between her and the podium while Riley dumped the remains of her burrito into her

takeout bag and leaned back against someone's legs and, when they complained, said, "Then move."

I was pretty sure Ally hadn't seen me yet, but it still pricked at me that, if she had, she'd have seen me flat-faced and stilled. No clapping, no cheering, no nothing. With Riley, she'd see the lack of enthusiasm and know it was because Riley wasn't going to let these people feel good about throwing themselves a parade by throwing her a parade; when it came to me, she'd probably just think I was jealous.

Aliyah stood at the podium and smiled at the audience through their wailing ecstasy. The floodlights were milky across her brow but glittered down the length of her sequined golden blouse. As the noise at last began to subside, she pinched her bottom lip and breathed out. She looked down at the podium. She inhaled through her mouth. She said, "Hello, Bobcats!"

You and I both flinched at the screams that followed.

"So move your goddamn legs," Riley said to the people behind her. "Gosh."

"It's a pleasure," Aliyah said, "to be back home after so much time away from the town where I grew up. And while it's true that I won't be here to walk the stage with the members of my class this June—and while I never really understood how those of us on the *swim* team could call ourselves Bob*cats* with a straight face—"

That one earned a forced, bleacher-wide laugh.

"I'm honored that you all still consider me one of your own. I promise you that the whole time I'm waiting to walk the stage at Greenwich's graduation, I'll really be dreaming about walking this stage right here."

I looked at Riley, who looked back at me. The clapping started up but died down immediately. Sitting there on the stage, you wet your dry lips. Mathers stood with his hands in his pockets and his head cocked birdishly to the side.

"It hasn't been filed yet," Aliyah said, "but it will be. Within the next several weeks."

A few people in the row of bleachers behind us started murmuring. A cell phone came out and started recording.

"I would now like to go through some of the basic facts of the case that the lawsuit will touch upon. In order to . . . um." Aliyah shuffled papers. Saw Mathers take his hands out of his pockets and step towards her. She grabbed the microphone by the stem and pulled it closer.

"It is true," she said, "that I was beaten nearly to death two Sundays ago. It is true that the officers put in charge of investigating my case had a vested interest in never solving it. It is also true that I myself obstructed the investigation."

A lot more phones came out. A lot more people started talking. It all blended together into one unintelligible hum, a droning, collective "oh my God."

"Hey," Riley said, seemed to be aiming it at everyone who was filming. "Hey!"

"Be quiet," a girl standing directly behind me said.

"Then turn off your phone."

In spite of herself—of everything—Aliyah saw me, and the corners of her mouth bent up.

"Ally," Mathers said, close enough now that his voice was getting picked up by the mic. "Maybe now isn't the time—"

"There were people who knew," Aliyah said. "People who knew what had happened to me and who said nothing. Who knew that Officer Jimmy Rodgers was planning to attack me and who did nothing to stop him."

You closed your eyes over that; my heart clogged up my throat.

"Those people," Aliyah said, "are going to be named in this lawsuit as accessories to an attempted murder—"

"That's enough," Mathers said, hand over hers on the mic.

"And a hate crime."

"Let her speak!" shouted one person.

"This is wild," the girl Riley was scolding said to her friend.

"I'm sorry," you mouthed to me.

"Come sit," Mathers said, his hand on Aliyah's shoulder.

"She just can't help herself," the girl with the phone out said.

"Let her speak!" a few more people chanted. "Let her speak! Let her speak!"

"Turn your phone off," Riley warned the girl.

"Fucking Ally Davis," the girl said. "Fucking fake-ass, lying-ass-"

And then she gripped you by the arm, Kali, wrenched you after her and off the stage, and the two of you hurtled into the New Watertown High-branded golfcart they'd used to drive Ally's beat-up self close enough to the stage that she could walk it without hurting herself, and you guys took off across the football field, past the empty away team bleachers, and beyond the reach of the floodlights. A few seconds later, two school security guards disappeared into the darkness after you, but I was only dimly aware of them, of the uproar overflowing the bleachers, of Riley smashing that girl's phone underfoot, of Mathers screaming for calm, of the dozens upon dozens of phones now trained on me, or of the literal fistfight now happening between Riley and the girl.

VITA

Christopher Jackson Morris is a fiction writer from Waterford, Connecticut. He graduated in May of 2018 from Eastern Connecticut State University with a Bachelor of Arts in English and a Bachelor of Arts in history. The former editorial assistant at award-winning indie press Elephant Rock Books and the 2021 University of Mississippi Scholar in Prose at the Longleaf Writers Conference in Seaside, Florida, he has also served as the fiction editor of the 2021 edition of the *Connecticut Literary Anthology* and as a reader for the University of Mississippi's *Yalobusha Review*. He is currently an M.F.A. candidate at the University of Mississippi.